
1 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 

7:00 P.M. 

AGENDA 

6:30 P.M. – EXECUTIVE SESSION: pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 
121.22 (G) (3) pending or imminent court action, Section 121.22 (G) (1) 
personnel, Section 121.22 (G) (5) matters required to be kept confidential by 
State statute, Section 121.22 (G) (2) acquisition of property for public purpose 
and 121.22(G) (8) consideration of confidential information related to a request 
for economic development assistance. 

REGULAR MEETING March 12, 2018 

1. ROLL CALL

2. INVOCATION – Pastor Michael Curtis, Second Baptist Church

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summary of the regular meeting of Council
held on February 26, 2018, as recorded and transcribed.

5. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Shade Tree meeting held 

on January 23, 2018, as recorded and transcribed. 
B. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Historic Preservation

Commission meeting held on January 24, 2018, as recorded and 
transcribed. 

C. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Finance Committee 
meeting held on August 16, 2017, as recorded and transcribed.  

D. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Civil Service Committee 
meeting held on January 3, 2018, as recorded and transcribed. 

E. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Planning Commission 
meeting held on February 7, 2018, as recorded and transcribed. 

F. Resolution No. 18-15, a resolution accepting the recommendations 
of the Delaware City Tax Incentive Review Council (TIRC) on the 
status of the 2017 Community Reinvestment Area (CRA), 
Enterprise Zone (EZ) and Tax Increment Financing Programs (TIF). 

G. Establish March 26, 2018 at 7:30 p.m. as a date and time for a 
public hearing and second reading for Ordinance No. 18-21, an 



2 

ordinance for Medrock LLC approving a Zoning Text Amendment to 
the existing Willowbrook Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text 
(Planned Unit Development) to allow a modification to the 
maximum dwelling units and density to Multi-Family Areas 3 and 
4 to allow additional dwelling units in Area 3 and removing units 
in Area 4 thereby decreasing the overall units currently allowed in 
total located on the east side of Houk Road on approximately 36 
acres on property zoned R-6 Multi-Family with a PUD Overlay.  

6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS

7. COMMITTEE REPORTS

8. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 18-11, an ordinance for Del-Mor
Dwellings Corporation approving a Rezoning Amendment to allow a PMU
(Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) at 250 Curtis Street on the north
side of Firestone Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned
PO/I (Planned Office/Institutional District) for an actively owned and
managed 40 dwelling unit low and moderate income affordable housing
development.

9. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 18-12, an ordinance for Del-Mor
Dwellings Corporation approving a Conditional Use Permit allowing the
placement of a PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be
established at 250 Curtis Street on the north side of Firestone Drive on
approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I (Planned
Office/Institutional District) for an actively owned and managed 40
dwelling unit low and moderate income affordable housing development.

10. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 18-13, an ordinance for Del-Mor
Dwellings Corporation approving a Preliminary Development Plan for an
actively owned and managed 40 dwelling unit low and moderate income
affordable housing development at 250 Curtis Street on the north side of
Firestone Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I
PMU (Planned Office/Institutional District with a Planned Mixed Use
Overlay District).

11. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 18-14, an ordinance for Del-Mor
Dwellings Corporation approving a Comprehensive Plan Amendment on
the Future Land Use Map from Medium Density Single Family to Mixed
Use at 250 Curtis Street on the north side of Firestone Drive on
approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I PMU (Planned
Office/Institutional District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District)
for an actively owned and managed 40 dwelling unit low and moderate



3 

income affordable housing development. 

12. 7:20 P.M. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance 
No. 18-18, an ordinance amending Section 933.09 of the 
Codified Ordinances of the City of Delaware, Ohio regarding 
intoxicating beverages prohibited, and repealing existing Section 
933.09 in its entirety, and declaring an emergency.

13. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 18-16, a resolution authorizing the
elimination of seven (7) on-street parking spaces on the east side of North
Sandusky Street between Marshall Court and the alley that runs
between Sandusky Street and Union Street, and designated as a No
Parking Zone accordingly.

14. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 18-17, a resolution designating the
alley between North Sandusky Street and North Union Street as a one-
way alley eastbound from North Sandusky Street to 115 feet west of
North Union Street, and to remain as a two-way alley from 115 feet west
of North Union Street to North Union Street.

15. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 18-18, a resolution authorizing the
City Manager to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
relating to a proposed development agreement with Delaware County
relating to public use of certain County parking areas.

16. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-19, an ordinance amending the
2018 Appropriations Ordinance to provide funding for a Performance
Based Economic Incentive Grant to CAMS, Inc. to assist in upgrading
electrical infrastructure that will allow the company to occupy 20,000 Sq.
Ft. of the Symmetry II Building at 105 Innovation Court, and declaring
an emergency.

17. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-20, an ordinance supplementing
the 2018 Appropriations Ordinance to provide funding to purchase a new
pool pump for the Jack Florance Pool.

18. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-21, an ordinance for Medrock
LLC. approving a Zoning Text Amendment to the existing Willowbrook
Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text (Planned Unit Development) to
allow a modification to the maximum dwelling units and density to Multi-
Family Areas 3 and 4 to allow additional dwelling units in Area 3 and
removing units in Area 4 thereby decreasing the overall units currently
allowed in total located on the east side of Houk Road on approximately
36 acres on property zoned R-6 Multi-Family with a PUD Overlay.



4 
 

 
19. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-22, an ordinance for Medrock 

LLC. approving a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for 
Multi-Family Area 3 of the Willowbrook Farm Tract for a 180 unit 
apartment complex on approximately 15.506 acres located on the 
northeast corner of Houk Road and DiGenova Way on property zoned R-6 
PUD (Multi-Family Residential District with a Planned Unit Development 
District).  

 
20. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
21. COUNCIL COMMENTS  
 
22. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 























































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM F DATE: 03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-15 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 
DELAWARE CITY TAX INCENTIVE REVIEW COUNCIL (TIRC) ON THE 
STATUS OF THE 2017 COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA (CRA), 
ENTERPRISE ZONE (EZ) AND TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PROGRAMS 
(TIF). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The City of Delaware is required, under Ohio Revised Code Sections 3735.69 and 
5709.68 to submit an annual report regarding the status of each Agreement by 
March 31, to the Director of the Ohio Development Services Agency. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
In order to maintain and continue commercial and residential tax 
exemptions/abatements (Enterprise Zone, Community Reinvestment Area and 
Tax Increment Financing Agreements), authorized per the Ohio Revised Code 
and City Resolutions and Ordinances, the City of Delaware legislative authority 
must appoint a Tax Incentive Review Council (TIRC).  The TIRC annually reviews 
and makes recommendations to City Council to Continue, Modify or Terminate 
each tax abatement agreement.  City Council’s decisions to accept or change the 
TIRC’s recommendations are annually reported to the Ohio Department of 
Development no later than March 31.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 



Tax Incentive Review Council, 2/20/18 
VOTE: Approval  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
COST: N/A 
FUND SOURCES: N/A 
BUDGETED: NO 
 
DEPARTMENTS IMPACTED: Economic Development 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
2018 TIRC Sign-in Sheet 
2018 TIRC Minutes 
2018 CRA and EZ Abatements Status Report Summary Spreadsheet 
2018 TIFs Status Report Summary Spreadsheet 
2018 Residential CRA Abatements Status Report Summary Spreadsheet 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-15 

A  RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE DELAWARE CITY 
TAX INCENTIVE REVIEW COUNCIL (TIRC) ON THE 
STATUS OF THE 2017 COMMUNITY 
REINVESTMENT AREA (CRA), ENTERPRISE ZONE 
(EZ), AND TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) 
PROGRAMS. 
 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Delaware City CRA, EZ and TIF Programs 
is to provide the community with an effective tool for managing and guiding 
economic development by enhancing the tax base, by encouraging and 
sustaining long term investment in the community, by enhancing the quality of 
life, and by preserving existing and attracting new business investment within 
said Programs; and 

WHEREAS, the duly appointed Delaware City Tax Incentive  Review 
Council (TIRC) met on February 21, 2017, and reviewed the status of each active 
agreement and made certain recommendations concerning action to  either 
continue, modify, terminate or expire said agreements; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Delaware is required, under Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 3735.69 and 5709.68 to submit an annual report regarding the status 
of each Agreement by March 31, to the Director of the Ohio Development Services 
Agency. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware as follows: 

SECTION 1:  That the review and recommendations made by the TIRC in 
the Meeting Minutes on this Resolution’s Fact Sheet and the Fact Sheet 
Attachments “2018 Tax Incentive Review Council Summary Tax Year 2017,”  
“2018 Tax Incentive Review Council Tax Year 2017 City of Delaware TIF Zones” 
and the "2018 Residential CRA Status Report Tax Year 2017" be accepted and 
that these reports, and all other information required by the State of Ohio be 
accepted by the Council of the  City of Delaware and be forwarded to the Director 
of the Ohio Development Services Agency, and all other appropriate entities, as 
noted in ORC Sections 3735.69 and 5709.68. 



SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after its passage. 

 

PASSED: ____________________________, 2018 YEAS _____ NAYS _____  

ABSTAIN _____ 
 

ATTEST:  ____________________________  _________________________ 
       CITY CLERK     MAYOR 

 





  

 
 

 
CITY OF DELAWARE TAX INCENTIVE REVIEW COUNCIL (TIRC) MINUTES 

 
Tuesday, February 20, 2018 

2:00 p.m. 
City Hall- CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
 

 
1. Call to Order  

Honorable George Kaitsa called to order the 2018 TIRC at 2:05 PM.   

2. Roll Call 

Members Present: Honorable George Kaitsa, Mayor Carolyn Kay Riggle, Tim Wells, Missy Griffith 

(designee for Emily Hatfield), Dean Stelzer, Melissa Lee, Chris Bell, and Tom Homan  

Staff Present: Sean Hughes, Kelsey Scott 

Attendees Present: Robert Haugh, Plant Manager of Henkel Corporation; Shari Baker, Delaware 

County; Alice Oldham, Delaware County 

3. Consent Agenda: 2017 CRA/EZ Tax Abatement Reports 

Mr. Hughes explained that 9 CRA/EZ (Toolmatics, Symmetry One, Sky Climber, AHP/Domtar, NABI, 

American Freight, V&P Hydraulics, Optimum Plastics, Engineered Materials Systems) were in 

compliance with their total payroll goals and new and retained full time employee (FTE) goals. Mr. 

Hughes took time to review V&P’s status as they were in non-compliance last year for falling short on 

their FTE commitment. In 2017, the company exceeded their FTE commitment of 65 by reporting 70. 

Mr. Homan wanted clarification of Sky Climber’s current FTE count. Mr. Hughes confirmed that the 

number of employees on the report (59) was the current number of employees. Ms. Lee made a 

motion to recommend compliance and continuation on the consent agenda abatement agreements to 

the City Council, seconded by May Riggle and approved by a 8-0 vote. 

4. Consideration Agenda: CRA 10-002 Robert Haugh/Henkel Corporation 



 

Mr. Hughes explained that Henkel Corporation fell short of their commitment with 0 new FTEs out of 

their 5 new FTE agreement and fell short of their payroll goal with $2,400,000 out of their 

$2,503,061 total payroll commitment. They also are at below their retained goal of 42 with only 41 

FTEs. Mr. Hughes explained that Henkel didn’t meet their goal in 2015. In turn, the Tax Incentive 

Review Council voted to lessen Henkel’s agreement from a 50% tax abatement for the remainder of 

their 10 years, to a 40% tax abatement for 10 years. Robert Haugh testified that in 2010, Henkel put 

an addition to their Delaware facility to bring new material to the plant. After the expansion, 

corporate sold a portion of their business which resulted in a loss of 40% of their operations at the 

Delaware plant, leading to lay-offs. Henkel’s corporate office has since acquired other businesses. Mr. 

Haugh is hopeful that corporate will select the Delaware facility to expand with more operations, 

which will help the company reach and exceed their FTE and payroll commitment. Mr. Wells asked if 

there would be another expansion to the building if the Delaware location was selected for the new 

operations. Mr. Haugh thinks the current building would suit the needs of the new operations, but he 

would suggest another expansion because they have the land for it. Mr. Wells asked when the 

corporate decisions will be made. Mr. Haugh believes it will happen in the next few months as he has 

already submitted his bid for the new business staff. Mr. Homan recommended NON-COMPLIANCE 

and CONTINUATION on the Henkel CRA to the City Council, seconded by Mr. Wells and approved by a 

8-0 vote. 

5. Consideration Agenda: CRA 15-002 Sky Climber Fabricating  

Mr. Hughes explained Sky Climber Fabricating did not meet their payroll commitment of $1,970,000, 

but they did meet their FTE commitment of 35 employees. Because they are still in their 3 year grace 

period by state law, staff recommended COMPLIANCE and CONTINUATION on the Sky Climber 

Fabricating CRA to Council. COMPLIANCE and CONTINUATION was motioned by Mr. Bell, seconded 

by Ms. Lee and approved by a 8-0 vote. 

 

 



 

 

6. Consideration Agenda:  CRA Midwest Acoust-A-Fiber 

Mr. Hughes explained that Midwest Acoust-A-Fiber fell short on their commitment of 14 new FTEs 

with 0 new FTEs, but exceeded their commitment of the total payroll of $6,800,000 with $6,699,000. 

Mr. Hughes mentioned that the plant manager of the Midwest Acoust-A-Fiber, Mr. Patrick Bye, 

informed him that the company hired 14 FTEs in January of 2018. The company was also within the 3 

year grace period by state law. Ms. Lee recommended COMPLIANCE and CONTINUATION on the 

Midwest Acoust-A-Fiber CRA, seconded by Mr. Stelzer and approved by a 8-0 vote. 

7. Consideration Agenda: CRA Symmetry II 

Mr. Hughes explained that Symmetry II fell short of their FTE and payroll commitment of 28 FTEs 

and $1,300,000 in payroll with 0 FTEs and $0 in payroll. Symmetry II is still in their 3 year grace 

period by state law. Mr. Wells recommended COMPLIANCE and CONTINUATION on the Symmetry II 

CRA, seconded by Mayor Riggle and approved by a 8-0 vote. 

8. Tax Increment Finance Districts (TIF) 

Mr. Hughes reported that 10 active TIF agreements are in compliance by having had their respective 

payments in lieu of taxes on real property paid, distributed to the City to be deposited in individual 

project accounts and distributed for payment of infrastructure on at least #945 and #1088. Mr. 

Stelzer clarified that there was money being distributed for debt for past improvements from the 

residential TIF account. Staff recommended COMPLIANCE and CONTINUATION. Mr. Homan made a 

motion to recommend COMPLIANCE and CONTINUATION, seconded by Mr. Wells and approved by a 

8-0 vote.  

9. Residential CRA Agreements 

Mr. Hughes reported that all 35 Residential CRA agreements are active and in COMPLIANCE 

(residential improvements had been made and remaining non-abated taxes were up to date). Mr. Bell 

made a motion to recommend COMPLIANCE and CONTINUATION of all Residential CRA agreements 

to City Council, seconded by Ms. Lee and approved by a 8-0 vote.  

10. School Pilot Programs 



 

Mr. Hughes discussed that all current school pilot payments were up to date. He reminded the school 

districts to invoice the City of Delaware for the Engineered Materials System’s school pilot payment 

for 2018 (tax year 2017) and that he would send instructions on invoicing for others.. 

Adjournment  

Meeting was adjourned at 2:51 PM.  

 

 
 

 



2018 Tax Incentive Review Council Summary
Tax Year 2017

2017  TIRC Summary Job & Payroll Creation                                    Real & Personal Property Investment

CRA Company Years/Abatement % Year of 
Expiration Total Payroll Goal Retained Payroll 

Goal New Payroll Goal Current Total Payroll Current Retained Payroll Current New Payroll % Achieved FTE Goal Retained FTE Goal New FTE 
Goal

Current 
Total FTE

Current 
Retained FTE

Current New 
FTE % Achieved Parcel # Taxes Paid in 2017 Total Taxes Paid 

thru Last Report
Total Taxes Paid Thru 

12/31/2017
Taxes Forgone in 

2017

Total Taxes 
Forgone Thru Last 

Report

Total Taxes 
Forgone Thru 
12/31/2017

CRA 03-002 ToolMatics 15/100% 12/31/2018 $375,000.00 $250,000.00 $125,000.00 $721,840.88 $250,000.00 $471,840.88 126% 12.5 7 5.5 14 7 7 120% 41921001006002 $1,820.78 $19,810.34 $21,631.12 $11,666.42 $139,508.17 $151,174.59
CRA 04-004 Symmetry One 15/100% 12/31/2019 $450,000.00 $0.00 $450,000.00 $2,334,310.00 $0.00 $2,334,310.00 519% 15 0 15 39 0 39 260% Multiple $5,213.76 $58,685.96 $63,899.72 $67,256.93 $621,753.77 $689,010.70
CRA 06-001 V&P Hydraulics 15/50% 12/31/2022 $2,300,000.00 $0.00 $2,300,000.00 $3,270,178.44 $0.00 $3,270,178.44 142% 65 0 65 70 0 70 107% 41922001006003 $26,974.23 $184,653.18 $211,627.41 $19,700.45 $151,319.51 $171,019.96
CRA 06-002 Sky Climber 15/50% 12/31/2022 $2,000,000.00 $0.00 $2,000,000.00 $3,731,264.00 $0.00 $3,731,264.00 187% 45 0 45 59 0 59 131% 41922001006002 $25,581.00 $214,022.00 $239,603.00 $19,808.61 $180,338.18 $200,146.79

CRA 06-003
Associated Hygienic 
Products 15/75% 12/31/2022 $7,480,879.00 $0.00 $7,480,879.00 $12,233,562.00 $0.00 $12,233,562.00 164% 201 0 201 273 0 273 136% 41922002001000 $105,090.18 $1,044,922.48 $1,150,012.66 $320,812.00 $2,300,372.41 $2,621,184.41

CRA 07-001 NABI Parts Division 15/50% 12/31/2023 $2,000,000.00 $0.00 $2,000,000.00 $4,422,046.56 $0.00 $4,422,046.56 221% 45 0 45 78 0 78 163% 41922002001001 $105,763.76 $644,662.50 $750,426.26 $85,432.25 $672,658.11 $758,090.36
CRA 10-001 American Freight 10/50% 12/31/2021 $2,120,000.00 $1,870,000.00 $250,000.00 $3,131,225.88 $1,870,000.00 $1,261,225.88 148% 35 30 5 68 30 38 194% 51944403010000 $22,981.90 $107,333.74 $130,315.64 $5,468.64 $27,497.86 $32,966.50

CRA 10-002 Henkel 10/40% 12/31/2021 $2,503,061.00 $2,400,000.00 $103,061.00 $2,400,000.00 $2,400,000.00 $0.00 96% 47 42 5 41 41 0 0%
41921105009000 
41921105022000 $70,714.50 $345,582.44 $416,296.94 $22,237.42 $113,328.72 $135,566.14

CRA 11-001 Optimum Plastics     10/100% 12/31/2022 $3,000,000.00 $2,800,000.00 $200,000.00 $3,389,758.00 $2,800,000.00 $589,758.00 108.00% 63 55 8 66 55 11 104% 41922001017005 $10,944.00 $56,823.00 $67,767.00 $10,944.00 $33,520.00 $44,464.00

CRA 15-001

Engineered Material 
Systems (101 
Innovation Court)

15/100%

12/31/2030 $3,400,000.00 $2,700,000.00 $700,000.00 $3,750,144.00 $2,700,000.00 $1,050,144.00 110% 47 39 8 50 39 11 106% 41922002003002 $13,823.98 $11,805.60 $25,629.58 $99,155.77 $99,156.00 $198,311.77

CRA 15-002
Sky Climber 
Fabricating

15/100%
1/1/2032 $1,970,000.00 $0.00 $1,970,000.00 $1,352,927.00 $0.00 $1,352,927.00 67% 35 0 35 35 0 35 100% 41922001006004 $5,597.80 $0.00 $5,597.80 $19,808.61 $0.00 $19,808.61

CRA
Midwest Acoust-A-
Fiber

10/100%
12/31/2026 $6,280,000.00 $5,860,000.00 $420,000.00 $6,699,000.00 $6,699,000.00 $0.00 106% 176 162 14 151 151 0 0% 41921006004000 $86,884.06 $0.00 $86,884.06 $69,794.23 $0.00 $69,794.23

CRA Symmetry II
15/50%

12/31/2031 $1,300,000.00 $0.00 $1,300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0% 28 0 28 0 0 0 0% 4.1922E+13 $43,770.22 $0.00 $43,770.22 $33,498.38 $0.00 $33,498.38

Total: $35,178,940.00 $15,880,000.00 $19,298,940.00 $47,436,256.76 $16,719,000.00 $30,717,256.76 814.5 335 479.5 944 323 621 $525,160.17 $2,688,301.24 $3,077,209.33 $662,482.49 $4,339,452.73 $5,021,743.83



2018 Tax Incentive Review Council
Tax Year 2017

City of delaware tif zones
Area Total Amount Disbursed Amount to City Expires Notes

Airport #527- Jet Stream, Airspace $25,001.37 $25,001.37 2027
Improvement of intersection, utilities, 

ramps near airport
#565- Braumiller Subdivision $278,644.66 $278,644.66 2036 Glenn Parkway addition
#562- Cheshire North $307,012.37 $307,012.37 2036 Glenn Parkway addition
#563- Cheshire South $17,936.97 $17,936.97 2036 Glenn Parkway addition
#564- Cheshire West $101,783.54 $101,783.54 2036 Glenn Parkway addition
#566- Evans Residential $0.00 $0.00 2036 Glenn Parkway addition

#776- Southeast Commercial $0.00 $0.00 2037
For road improvments surrounding Ohio 

Health Blvd.

#945- Skyclimber & V&P Hydraulics $40,049.00 $40,049.00 2037
Payment of costs for acquring V&P and 

Skyclimber parcels
#1088- Zaremba- Mill Run $132,229.00 $132,229.00 2039 Paid to developer for Glenn Parkway

Total $902,656.91 $902,656.91



2018 Residential CRA Status Report
Tax Year 2017

Name/Property Identification Date Project 
Certified

Percent of 
Exemption

Term of 
Exemption Total Project Investment

Total Real Property 
Investment Subject to 

Exemption

Date of Most 
Recent Council 

Review

2014-06 100% 7 yrs $87,036.54 $87,036.54 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Dennis Ensign
5 Stilson Street 8/28/2014
41912202005000
1 family new construction

2014-05 100% 7 yrs $91,434.46 $91,434.46 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Christopher Shelly
56 Kurrley Street 9/10/2014
51944307007000
1 family new construction

2014-04 100% 7 yrs 137,000.00 137,000.00 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
David O Summers
126 Wilder Street 5/9/2014
5194427005000
1 family new construction

2014-03 100% 7 yrs 50,000.00 50,000.00 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
James P. Manos
9B N. Sandusky Street 4/30/2014
Remodel 2nd floor to residential

2014-01 100% 7 yrs 111,112.80 111,112.80 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Kathleen G. Crawford
47 High Street 1/27/2014
51942823006000
1 family new construction

2013-01 100% 7 yrs 102,751.49 102,751.49 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Raul and Caolina Olvera
57 Stilson Street 6/24/2013
41912202013000
1 family new construction

2013-02 100% 7 yrs 160,000 (80,000 per unit) 160,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Delaware Place Senior Apartments, LLC
351 South Sandusky Street, Units A & B 8/2/2013
41912102034000
1 family new construction 

2013-03 100% 7 yrs 160,000 (80,000 per unit) 160,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Delaware Place Senior Apartments, LLC
351 South Sandusky Street, Units C & D 8/2/2013
41912102034000
1 family new construction

2013-04 100% 7 yrs 160,000 (80,000 per unit) 160,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Delaware Place Senior Apartments, LLC
351 South Sandusky Street, Units E & F 8/2/2013
41912102034000
1 family new construction

2013-05 100% 7 yrs 160,000 (80,000 per unit) 160,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Delaware Place Senior Apartments, LLC
351 South Sandusky Street, Units G & H 8/2/2013
41912102034000
1 family new construction 

2013-06 100% 7 yrs 160,000 (80,000 per unit) 160,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Delaware Place Senior Apartments, LLC
351 South Sandusky Street, Units I & J 8/2/2013
41912102034000
1 family new construction 

2013-07 100% 7 yrs 160,000 (80,000 per unit) 160,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Delaware Place Senior Apartments, LLC
351 South Sandusky Street Unit K & L 8/2/2013
41912102034000
1 family new construction 

2013-08 100% 7 yrs 160,000 (80,000 per unit) 160,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Delaware Place Senior Apartments, LLC
351 South Sandusky Street Unit M & N 8/2/2013
41912102034000
1 family new construction 

2013-09 100% 7 yrs 113,580.12 113,580.12 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Erica McCuen
85 Chamberlain Street 11/7/2013
51944208010000
1 family new construction

2012-04 100% 7 yrs 99,596.63 $99,596.63 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Steffan Gregory A & Karen M (formerly under KATHRYN C. RICHLEY)
81 Chamberlain Street 12/4/2012

Current Status



51944208009000
1  family new construction 

2012-03 100% 7 yrs 94,052.07 94,052.07 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
WALTER & TERRESA JONES, JR.
24 Eaton Street 6/28/2012
51943311023000
1 family new construction 

2012-02 100% 7 yrs $97,729.26 $97,729.26 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
FATMATA O'CONNER
135 S Liberty Street 5/14/2012
51943310011000
Residential new construction

2012-01 3/23/2012 100% 7 yrs $97,411 $97,411 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
JEFFERY & TAMMY SCOTT
91Wilder Street
51944204007000
Residential new construction

2011-01 5/23/2011 100% 7 yrs $31,000 $31,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
LESLIE COX
292 Union St
51943103006000
Residential remodel

2011-02 9/19/2011 100% 7 yrs $87,198.88 $87,198.88 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
CINDY MARTIN
11 Stilson St
41912202004000
Residential new construction

2010-02 7/27/2010 100% 7 yrs $200,000 $200,000 2/23/2016 Active/Paid
CROMDALE PARTNERS LLC
MANOS JAMES 
32 South Sandusky St.
Commercial renovation
5194330102900

2010-03 9/3/2010 100% 7 yrs $96,823.54 $96,823.54 2/23/2016 Active/Paid
Moore Franklin & Bernice
125 S. Liberty St.
Habitat residential new const.
51943310010000

2010-04 12/13/2010 100% 7 yrs $100,000 $100,000 2/23/2016 Active/Paid
Miller Steven L & Pamela K
290 N. Sandusky St.

51943104008000 - 290 N Sandusky St.

51943104009000 - Sandusky St.
Residential renovation

2010-05 12/13/2010 100% 7 yrs $108,000 $108,000 2/23/2016 Active/Paid
Delaware County Habitat For Humanity
305 Curtis St.
51934418002000
Habitat residential new const.

2015-05 12/21/2015 100% 7 yrs $107,161 $107,161 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Jamison Bryant
51 Toledo Street
51934403002000

2015-04 9/30/2015 100% 7 yrs $106,762 $106,762 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Kiana Jones
167 Park Avenue
51943311006000

2015-03 6/18/2015 100% 7 yrs $110,441 $110,441 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Chris and Marcia Ball as applicants, owned 
by Habitat for Humanity
93 W Harrison Street
51943320015000

2015-02 6/8/2015 100% 7 yrs $428,000 $428,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Griswold Homes
36 Griswold Street
51943210012001

2015-01 1/13/2015 100% 7 yrs $110,000 $110,000 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Brittany Murfield
51 Stilson Street
41912202012000

2016-01 3/10/2016 100% 7 yrs $102,187 102,187 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Adam Kroninger and Jessica Bittinger
55 David St. 

51943324008000
New residential structure

2016-02 11/14/2016 100% 7 yrs $93,429.57 $93,429.57 2/21/2017 Active/Paid
Rebecca Hughes
181 S. Franklin St. 

51943316008000
New residential structure



2017-01 5/3/2017 100% 7 yrs $128,000 $128,000.00 Active/Paid
Karianne R. Wyrick

16 David St
5.19433E+13
New residential structure

2017-02 6/12/2017 100% 7 yrs $150,000.00+ $150,000.00+ Active/Paid
COSG Investments LLC; Terry Whiteside
297 W. William St.
5.19433E+13
Remodel - Addition

2017-03 6/1/2017 100% 7 yrs $300,000 $300,000.00 Active/Paid
Jennifer S. Long; Living Trust
535 W. William St.
5.19344E+14
New residential structure

2017-04 11/1/2017 100% 7 yrs $150,000.00 $150,000.00 Active/Paid
Sara Hoover
252 S. Franklin St.
5.19433E+13
New residential structure



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  8    DATE: 03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-11    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       February 26, 2018 at 7:30 p.m. 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL 
OF A REZONING AMENDMENT TO ALLOW A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF 
FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
PO/I (PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT) FOR AN ACTIVELY 
OWNED AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT LOW AND MODERATE INCOME 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report and staff memo for revised proposal update.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on February 7, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
 
 



POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



ORDINANCE NO. 18-11 

AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING 
CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A REZONING 
AMENDMENT TO ALLOW A PMU (PLANNED MIXED 
USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 CURTIS STREET 
ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON 
APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
PO/I (PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT) 
FOR AN ACTIVELY OWNED AND MANAGED 40 
DWELLING UNIT LOW AND MODERATE INCOME 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT. 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of February 7, 2018 
recommended approval of a Rezoning Amendment to allow a PMU (Planned 
Mixed Use Overlay District) at 250 Curtis Street on the north side of Firestone 
Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I (Planned 
Office/Institutional District) for an actively owned and managed 40 dwelling 
unit low and moderate income affordable housing development (2017-3115). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City 
of Delaware, State of Ohio: 

SECTION 1. That the Rezoning Amendment to allow a PMU (Planned 
Mixed Use Overlay District) at 250 Curtis Street on the north side of Firestone 
Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I (Planned 
Office/Institutional District) for an actively owned and managed 40 dwelling 
unit low and moderate income affordable housing development, is hereby 
confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following condition that: 

1. Any new structure(s) or any change of land use shall require
conformance to all provisions of the Development Text and any
conditions of approval.

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 



 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



































































From: David M. Efland
To: Elaine McCloskey
Subject: FW: Planned 250 Curtis Street development
Date: Monday, February 26, 2018 6:28:19 PM

FYI - please forward to city council.

David M. Efland, AICP
Director of Planning & Community Development

City of Delaware
1 S. Sandusky St.
Delaware, OH     43015
www.delawareohio.net
740-203-1600 - Phone
740-203-1699 – FAX
______________________________

Home of Ohio Wesleyan University
An Ohio Main Street Community – Main Street Delaware
MONEY Magazine – 100 Best Places to Live in America 2017.
Forbes Top 10 "Best Places to Raise a Family"
An AARP "Livable Community"

-----Original Message-----
From: David M. Efland
Sent: Monday, February 26, 2018 6:28 PM
To: 'Beve Reiner'
Subject: RE: Planned 250 Curtis Street development

Thank you for this comment.  I will ensure it gets to city council for their consideration.  So you know, the
developer's current revised proposal is to complete all construction in one phase of work so this should not be an
issue if approved as proposed.

Additionally, feel free to give me a call to discuss what sounds like existing dirt mounds near you.  Perhaps there is
something we can do or I can let you know a time table for their removal perhaps.  Dirt is stockpiled on larger
development sites from time to time but I would have to know exactly where in your case and we can look into it if
you like.

David M. Efland, AICP
Director of Planning & Community Development

City of Delaware
1 S. Sandusky St.
Delaware, OH     43015
www.delawareohio.net
740-203-1600 - Phone
740-203-1699 – FAX
______________________________

Home of Ohio Wesleyan University
An Ohio Main Street Community – Main Street Delaware MONEY Magazine – 100 Best Places to Live in America
2017.

mailto:/O=CITY OF DELAWARE/OU=CITY HALL/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=DEFLAND
mailto:EMcCloskey@delawareohio.net


Forbes Top 10 "Best Places to Raise a Family"
An AARP "Livable Community"

-----Original Message-----
From: Beve Reiner [mailto:beve@columbus.rr.com]
Sent: Monday, February 26, 2018 6:08 PM
To: David M. Efland
Subject: Planned 250 Curtis Street development

________________________________
 ***ATTENTION: This email came from an external source. Do not open attachments or click on links from
unknown senders or unexpected emails.*** ________________________________

Dear Mr Efland:

We wish to say something about the above hearing on the mentioned property.
My husband and I live on Carson Farms Blvd. We don’t have a problem with the units being built but we do have an
issue if the house on that property remains when the development begins. We wish to see the property buildings
razed before the new buildings are erected. The developing company of this property should be responsible and
incur all expenses with this to be done. If not, the property’s current abandoned house will become an eyesore and
detract from the new buildings and our neighborhoods. This has happened in the past with building the homes in our
area and the “mountains” of dirt being left at the edges of our neighborhoods from the building of homes. It is
unsightly and even after our ward’s council representative asked that these mounds be graded by the housing
development companies that left these several years ago, it still has never been done. This detracts from the area of
our homes and if this Curtis Street house is left standing it could be a potential danger to area children or others.
Also leaving it is an eyesore and would open the property to rodents and other wildlife.
Thank you for time regarding this matter.

Sincerely,
Alan and Beverly Reiner
beve@columbus.rr.com
631 Carson Farms Blvd
Delaware, Ohio 43015
Phone: (740) 272-3840

Sent from my iPhone

________________________________

This message may contain confidential and/or proprietary information and is intended for the person/entity to whom
it was originally addressed. Any use by others is strictly prohibited.

mailto:beve@columbus.rr.com




From: Brett Latta
To: Kyle Rohrer
Cc: David M. Efland; Lance Schultz; Jordan Selmek; Elaine McCloskey
Subject: Del-Mor and Adjoining Property Valuations
Date: Friday, February 23, 2018 7:24:14 AM
Attachments: Del-Mor and Adjoining Properties.xlsx

***ATTENTION: This email came from an external source. Do not open attachments or
click on links from unknown senders or unexpected emails.***

Mr. Rohrer:

Attached for city council's review and consideration is an Excel spreadsheet that summarizes
objective and verifiable data regarding property valuations for all the properties which adjoin
property currently owned by Del-Mor Dwellings Corporation within the City of Delaware. 
The adjoining properties listed either share a property line with Del-Mor or are opposite a
transportation right-of-way from Del-Mor land holdings.  I plan to discuss my research during
the public hearing for Del-Mor's proposal at 250 Curtis Street on 26 February 2018.   Please
ensure this document finds its way into the official public record.

Kind regards,

Brett Latta
376 North Sandusky Street

mailto:bclatta@gmail.com
mailto:KRohrer@delawareohio.net
mailto:defland@delawareohio.net
mailto:lschultz@delawareohio.net
mailto:jselmek@delawareohio.net
mailto:EMcCloskey@delawareohio.net

Sheet1

		Del-Mor Property		Year Purchased		1996 Value		Current Value		Note

		36 S. Washington St.		1995		$167,300		$171,100

		adj - 104 Spring St.				$240,400		$286,600

		adj - 34 S. Washington St.				$76,600		$93,400

		adj - 92 Spring St.				$51,100		$163,600

		adj - 50 S. Washington St.				$65,400		$147,400

		adj - 37 S. Washington St.				$43,700		$97,700

		adj - 33 S. Washington St.				$39,000		$73,100

		adj - NE cor Spring/S. Wash				$51,300		$23,600		Building demolished in 2007



				Year Purchased		1996 Value		Current Value

		102 Potter St.		1991		$20,000		$23,400

		adj - 98 Potter St.				$33,000		$70,300

		adj - 16 Oak St.				$38,500		$73,900

		adj - 108 Potter St.				$39,700		$72,000

		adj - RR right-of-way				n/a		n/a



				Year Purchased		1996 Value		Current Value

		167 Lake St.		1992		$69,900		$114,300

		adj - 171 Lake St.				$49,500		$84,800

		adj - Nutter property				$4,700		$5,400

		adj - Nutter property				$2,600		$6,400

		adj - 165 Lake St.				$45,500		$101,100

		adj - 174 Lake St.				$48,300		$111,600

		adj - 172 Lake St.				$53,100		$118,700



				Year Purchased		2002 Value		Current Value

		241 Park Ave.		2000		$132,000		$228,900

		adj - 239 Park Ave.				$57,500		$59,000

		adj - 62 Liberty St.				$12,374,400		$15,164,100

		adj - 102 Eaton St.				$67,600		$81,400

		adj - 108 Eaton St.				$71,700		$92,600



				Year Purchased		2002 Value		Current Value

		243 Park Ave.		2000		$132,000		$228,900

		adj - 108 Eaton St.				$71,700		$92,600

		adj - 62 Liberty St.				$12,374,400		$15,164,100



				Year Purchased		2005 Value		Current Value

		245 Park Ave.		2004		$228,900		$240,000

		adj - 249 Park Ave.				$579,900		$684,300

		adj - 62 Liberty St.				$12,374,400		$15,164,100

		adj - 120 Eaton St.				$121,700		$125,500

		adj - 112/114 Eaton St.				$79,000		$76,000		-$3,000



				Year Purchased		2011 Value		Current Value

		129 Cheshire St.		2012		$16,200		$268,600

		adj - 121 Cheshire St.				$81,900		$97,200

		adj - 17 Vine St.				$73,000		$85,500

		adj - 114 Cheshire St.				$103,800		$116,300

		adj - 134 Cheshire St.				$73,600		$85,400

		adj - 126 Cheshire St.				$101,200		$120,800

		adj - 27 Vine St.				$99,500		$118,400

		adj - 30 Vine St.				$97,500		$104,800

		adj - 34 North St.				$106,700		$124,500



				Year Purchased		1996 Value		Current Value

		131 Cheshire St.		1992		$68,700		$268,100

		adj - 34 North St.				$68,200		$124,500

		adj - 30 Vine St.				$75,200		$104,800

		adj - 22 North St.				$39,000		$151,500

		adj - 139 Cheshire St.				$53,300		$113,400

		adj - 126 Cheshire St.				$35,900		$120,800

		adj - 134 Cheshire St.				$47,400		$85,400

		adj - 138 Cheshire St.				$101,900		$180,000



				Year Purchased		1996 Value		Current Value

		201 E. Winter St.		1991		$34,400		$58,800

		adj - 193 E. Winter St.				$45,700		$107,900

		adj - 203 E. Winter St.				$39,800		$99,000

		adj - 196 E. Winter St.				$46,700		$95,000

		adj - 204 E. Winter St.				$46,700		$101,700

		adj - 208 E. Central Ave.				$30,700		$82,600

		adj - 204 E. Central St.				$40,900		$181,200

		adj - 200 E. Central St.				$20,900		$15,700		Building demolished in 1998



				Year Purchased		1996 Value		Current Value

		231 S. Franklin St.		1989		$25,400		$35,400

		adj - 227 S. Franklin St.				$64,700		$71,700

		adj - 233 S. Franklin St.				$37,500		$63,700

		adj - 228 S. Franklin St.				$54,100		$83,700

		adj - 236 S. Franklin St.				$45,700		$71,200

		adj - 216 S. Sandusky St.				$209,800		$968,300

		adj - 226 S. Sandusky St.				$178,500		$206,500



				Year Purchased		2017 Value		Current Value

		231 S. Washington St.		2017		$60,000		$93,800

		adj - 83.5 W. Harrison St.				n/a		$98,200

		adj - 77 W. Harrison St.				n/a		$74,400

		adj - 73 W. Harrison St.				n/a		$61,600

		adj - 67 W. Harrison St.				n/a		$74,700

		adj - 228 S. Franklin St.				n/a		$83,700

		adj - 236 S. Franklin St.				n/a		$71,200

		adj - 93 W. Harrison St.				n/a		$121,700

		adj - 230 S. Washington St.				n/a		$37,000

		adj - Mitchell property				n/a		$12,300

		adj - 237 S. Washington St.				n/a		$84,200



				Year Purchased		1996 Value		Current Value

		28 Columbus Ave.		1996		$54,600		$108,600

		adj. - 20 Columbus Ave.				$66,200		$129,400

		adj. - 30 Columbus Ave.				$81,000		$141,400

		adj. - 21 Toledo St.				$55,700		$118,200

		adj. - 23 Toledo St.				$45,500		$92,900

		adj. - 25 Toledo St.				$54,500		$118,600

		adj. - 29 Columbus Ave.				$71,900		$109,100

		adj. - 25 Columbus Ave.				$62,100		$114,000

		adj. - 13 Columbus Ave.				$86,600		$136,300



				Year Purchased		1999 Value		Current Value

		44-46 Flax St.		1998		$64,000		$59,500		-$4,500

		adj - Bailey property				$3,300		$10,800

		adj - 14 Milo St.				$53,100		$70,800

		adj - 41 Flax St.				$57,400		$71,000

		adj - 45 Flax St.				$45,500		$105,100

		adj - 54 Flax St.				$63,700		$76,600

		adj - 8 Milo St.				$56,300		$75,900

		adj - 123 E. Central St.				$38,500		$82,800

		adj - 127 E. Central St.				$39,900		$85,200

		adj - O 'Brien property				$12,200		$12,300

		adj - 145 E. Central St.				$84,300		$131,600



				Year Purchased		02-03 Value		Current Value

		800-822 Ravine Ridge Dr.		2002		$479,000		$509,100

		adj - 675 Fern Dr.				$1,195,338		$1,220,800

		adj - 200 Lone Pine Rd.				$73,400		$83,500

		adj - 205 Lone Pine Rd.				$81,300		$91,600

		adj - 210 Freedom Ln.				$269,500		$273,800

		adj - 761 Fern Dr.				$369,600		$467,900

		adj - 1 Ravine Ridge Dr.				$1,975,100		$1,972,600		-$2,500

		adj - 746 Fern Dr.				$77,100		$85,700



				Year Purchased		96-99 Value		Current Value

		76 David  St.		1993		$77,000		$96,600

		78 David  St.		1993		$90,300		$108,900

		adj - 62 David St.				$35,200		$64,300

		adj - 320 London Rd.				$329,400		$2,244,800

		adj - howald property				$49,200		$12,500		Buildings demolished in 2005

		adj - 308 London Rd.				$9,400		$13,400

		adj - 304 London Rd.				$24,900		$35,000

		adj - 110 David St.				$10,800		$15,400

		adj - 115 David St.				$17,800		$62,500

		adj - Clark/Broadnax property				$3,500		$13,500

		adj - 61 David St.				$72,100		$96,500

		adj - 59 David St.				$7,100		$61,100

		adj - 58 David St.				$35,900		$67,800



				Year Purchased		98-99 Value		Current Value

		31-33 Ross  St.		1998		$42,000		$113,100

		35-37 Ross  St.		1998		$42,000		$113,100

		adj - 41 Ross St.				$44,600		$82,600

		adj - City of Delaware				$28,000		$96,800

		adj - City of Delaware				$8,700		$27,500

		adj - City of Delaware				$8,700		$20,500

		adj - 25 Ross St.				$30,600		$45,600

		adj - 26 Ohio St.				$64,600		$85,700

		adj - 32 Ohio St.				$63,400		$92,900



				Year Purchased		98-99 Value		Current Value

		40-42 Ohio  St.		1998		$42,000		$121,200

		Parcel 51943321053000		1998		$1,100		$7,400

		Parcel 51943321054000		1998		$1,100		$7,400

		adj - 52 Ohio St.				$32,000		$140,300

		adj - 45 Ohio St.				$20,000		$82,300

		adj - 43 Ohio St.				$20,000		$97,900

		adj - 41 Ohio St.				$20,000		$82,000

		adj - 39 Ohio St.				$20,000		$97,300

		adj - 32 Ohio St.				$63,400		$92,900

		adj - 41 Ross St.				$44,600		$82,600



		SUMMARY (NOT INCLUDING 231 S. WASHINGTON ST. --- 2017 PURCHASE)



		96 DIFFERENT ADJOINING PROPERTIES EVALUATED



		5 ADJOINING PROPERTIES DEPRECIATED (3 DUE TO DEMOLISHED BUILDINGS)



		2% OF ADJOINING PROPERTIES DEPRECIATED IN THE CITY OF DELAWARE



		TOTAL VALUE OF ADJOINING PROPERTIES DEPRECIATED = $5,500 IN DEL-MOR'S 28 YEARS

		SOURCE IS DELAWARE COUNTY AUDITOR:  http://www.delco-gis.org/Auditor/

		 





























 

 

 •  •  •  

 

 
Open Letter to City Council and Delaware Community 

Community and City Leaders: 

Delaware STEP has been working with our citizens who live in the culture of poverty in our community.  Our 
mission and goals revolve around enabling willing individuals to move from dependence to independence 
through education, collaboration and partnerships.  It is in that spirit that we are grateful to participate in 
the discussion surrounding the Del-Mor project on 250 Curtis Street. 

We at STEP feel deeply that the sign of a healthy and vibrant community is the success and care for its least 
able members, ideally allowing for those individual to lead full and independent lives. Del-More has been 
helping our disabled populations for over 20 years without incident and without praise.  They have 
provided permanent and compassionate solutions for those who would not otherwise have independent 
options. It is easy to see how this project aids the citizens who will be able to live within its walls, but the 
benefits go far beyond those individual benefits.  

We at STEP believe that increasing the independence and care for our least able members has direct and 
tangible benefits to the community as a whole. We believe it not only helps the individuals, but it enriches 
the community by reducing emergency interventions, lowering public health costs and increasing ability to 
participate in the economics of the community.   

Citizens with mental illness will not disappear if this project does not move forward.  They will move to less 
supportive options and outcomes that cannot be measured or improved. This project and these hearings 
allow much more community control over the use of this land and the outcomes than could be expected 
from a for-profit developer and does not remove any of the needs of those suffering from mental 
disabilities. 

It is with this understanding that Delaware STEP supports the Del-Mor project and urges the community to 
rally behind this effective organization to continue its amazing and successful work on behalf of our 
vulnerable citizens. 

With respect for our community leaders and for all our citizens, 

Mindy Leitwein 
President 

 

 
February 16, 2018 



































































































































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  09    DATE: 03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-12    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       FEBRUARY 26, 2018 AT 7:30 P.M. 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL 
OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU 
(PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE 
NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON 
PROPERTY ZONED PO/I (PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT) FOR 
AN ACTIVELY OWNED AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT LOW AND 
MODERATE INCOME AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report and staff memo for revised proposal update.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1148 Conditional Use Regulations of the 
zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on February 7, 2018. 
 
 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 



  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 18-12 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING 
CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL 
USE PERMIT ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU 
(PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 
CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF 
FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES 
ON PROPERTY ZONED PO/I (PLANNED 
OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT) FOR AN 
ACTIVELY OWNED AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING 
UNIT LOW AND MODERATE INCOME AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of February 7, 2018 
recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit allowing the placement of a 
PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) at 250 Curtis Street on the north 
side of Firestone Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I 
(Planned Office/Institutional District) for an actively owned and managed 40 
dwelling unit low and moderate income affordable housing development (2017-
3116). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the Conditional Use Permit allowing the placement of a 
PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) at 250 Curtis Street on the north 
side of Firestone Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I 
(Planned Office/Institutional District) for an actively owned and managed 40 
dwelling unit low and moderate affordable housing development, is hereby 
confirmed, approved, and accepted. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 
 
 
 



PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  10    DATE: 03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-13    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL 
OF A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR AN ACTIVELY OWNED AND 
MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT LOW AND MODERATE INCOME 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE 
NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON 
PROPERTY ZONED PO/I PMU (PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT 
WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report and staff memo for revised proposal update.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1129.04 Procedures of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on February 7, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 18-13 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING 
CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A PRELIMINARY 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR AN ACTIVELY OWNED 
AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT LOW AND 
MODERATE INCOME AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE 
NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON 
APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
PO/I PMU (PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL 
DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT). 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of February 7, 2018 
recommended approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for an actively 
owned and managed 40 dwelling unit low and moderate income affordable 
housing development at 250 Curtis Street on the north side of Firestone Drive 
on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I PMU (Planned 
Office/Institutional District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) (2017-
3117). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the Preliminary Development Plan for an actively 
owned and managed 40 dwelling unit low and moderate income affordable 
housing development at 250 Curtis Street on the north side of Firestone Drive 
on approximately 3.64 acres on property zoned PO/I PMU (Planned 
Office/Institutional District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District), is 
hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following condition that: 
 

1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department once a complete plan set is submitted for 
review. 

2. The applicant shall contribute $40,000 for the proposed Curtis Street 
north bound left hand turn lane onto Firestone Drive along with 
dedicating the appropriate amount of right-of-way per the City 
Engineer. 



3. A guardrail or equivalent as approved by the City Engineer shall be 
installed along Firestone Drive adjacent to the proposed retention 
pond. 

4. The number of required parking spaces shall be reduced to 40 from 
the required 96 parking spaces. 

5. The dumpster shall be enclosed by a brick or stone wall that matches 
the building with wood doors painted or stained to match. 

6. The proposed apartment buildings shall achieve compliance with the 
design standards of the approved development text.  

7. A tree preservation area shall be located on the western 150 feet of the 
property within an easement with the appropriate language that 
would need to be reviewed and approved by staff and then be recorded 
at the county.  

8. The Tree Preservation Regulations in Chapter 1168 pertaining to tree 
replacement and preservation shall be addressed prior to or 
concurrent with the Final Development Plan approval. 

9. The existing tree line along the northern property line shall be 
preserved as much as possible while planting additional trees and 
shrubs to supplement the screening along the northern property line. 
The exact type and location of screening shall be determined during 
the Final Development Plan approval process 

10. Street trees shall be installed along Curtis Street in Phase 2 of the 
development. 

11. Any streets trees in Phase 1 damaged by construction shall be 
replaced. 

12. Any landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Shade 
Tree Commission. 

13. A lighting plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Chief Building 
Official. 

14. Any signage shall be documented on the Final Development Plan and 
achieve compliance with the adopted Gateways and Corridor Plan. 

15. The entire development would have to achieve compliance with the 
minimum engineering, public works and fire department 
requirements.  

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 



 
 
 

PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  11    DATE: 03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-14    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       FEBRUARY 26, 2018 AT 7:30 P.M. 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL 
OF A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT ON THE FUTURE LAND USE 
MAP FROM MEDIUM DENSITY SINGLE FAMILY TO MIXED USE AT 250 
CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON 
APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED PO/I PMU (PLANNED 
OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT) FOR AN ACTIVELY OWNED AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT 
LOW AND MODERATE INCOME AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report and staff memo for revised proposal update.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1130 Amendments of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on February 7, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 18-14 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING 
CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT ON THE 
FUTURE LAND USE MAP FROM MEDIUM DENSITY 
SINGLE FAMILY TO MIXED USE AT 250 CURTIS 
STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE 
ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPERTY 
ZONED PO/I PMU (PLANNED 
OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED 
MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) FOR AN ACTIVELY 
OWNED AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT LOW 
AND MODERATE INCOME AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of February 7, 2018 
recommended approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment on the Future 
Land Use Map from Medium Density Single Family to Mixed Use at 250 Curtis 
Street on the north side of Firestone Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on 
property zoned PO/I PMU (Planned Office/Institutional with a Planned Mixed 
Use Overlay District) for an actively owned and managed 40 dwelling unit low 
and moderate income affordable housing development (2017-3118), 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the Comprehensive Plan Amendment on the Future 
Land Use Map from Medium Density Single Family to Mixed Use at 250 Curtis 
Street on the north side of Firestone Drive on approximately 3.64 acres on 
property zoned PO/I PMU (Planned Office/Institutional with a Planned Mixed 
Use Overlay District) for an actively owned and managed 40 dwelling unit low 
and moderate income affordable housing development, is hereby confirmed, 
approved, and accepted. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 12    DATE: 03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-18    RESOLUTION NO:  
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       MARCH 12, 2018 at 7:20 P.M. 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Ted Miller, Parks and Natural Resource Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 933.09 OF THE CODIFIED 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO REGARDING INTOXICATING 
BEVERAGES PROHIBITED, AND REPEALING EXISTING SECTION 933.09 IN 
ITS ENTIRETY, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The introduction of beer sales is aimed at increasing concession sales and 
providing the public a legal option for while playing golf. In 2017 a public working 
group was formed to complete a strategic plan for sustainability and one of the 
recommendations of this plan was to introduce beer sales. The plan was adopted 
by the Parks and Recreation board on February 21, 2017. 
 
The draft included in this packet is identical to the one previously submitted in 
April of 2014 to Council and was tabled.  If passed, staff would apply for a liquor 
permit to sell beer at the golf course.  However, should Council give future 
direction to sell other types of alcohol, the language of the ordinance would be 
broad enough to permit it, assuming the proper permit was obtained.  If Council 
would prefer to limit the language to beer only, the draft can be changed for a 
future reading.  
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 



To amend the current ordinance that prohibits alcohol sales and introduces beer 
sales for Hidden Valley Golf Course. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Reviewed by Parks and Recreation Board February 21, 2017 as part of the 
approval of the Hidden Valley Golf Course Strategic Plan for Sustainability, 
unanimously approved. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
It is estimated that alcohol (beer) sales will conservatively increase revenues at 
HVGC by $5,000-$8,000. There will be some initial costs to implement the 
change (included in 2018 budget) and they are estimated as follows: 
 Wages     $2,500 Seasonal ranger, salary  
         supplemented by course 
         credit 
 Ice Maker     $1,650 
 Beverage Refrigerator   $2,000 
 Liquor Permit/Processing fee  $476 
 City Insurance Annual increase $350   
 Miscellaneous    $800  coolers, signs, etc. 
 
 Total Start up fees   $7,776 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
Clubhouse staff will require additional education in managing beer sales and 
additional signage will be necessary to deter patrons from bringing alcohol 
purchased off premises. 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Jackie Walker, Assistant City Manager, 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
Ted Miller, Parks and Natural Resource Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Hidden Valley Golf Course Strategic Plan For Sustainability 



ORDINANCE NO. 18-18 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 933.01 OF THE 
CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE, OHIO REGARDING INTOXICATING 
BEVERAGES PROHIBITED, AND REPEALING 
EXISTING SECTION 933.01 IN ITS ENTIRETY, AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1. That Section 933.09 of Chapter 933 of the Codified 
Ordinances of the City of Delaware is hereby amended and replaced in its 
entirety by the following new section: 
 
933.09  PARK HOURS AND CONDITIONS OF USE.INTOXICATING 
BEVERAGES PROHIBITED, EXCEPTION FOR ALCOHOL SOLD BY CITY AT 
HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF COURSE 
 
 (A) THE CITY MAY SELL ALCOHOL AT THE HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF 
COURSE IF IT OBTAINS THE REQUIRED PERMITS AND INSURANCE.  
 

(B) No person shall transport, distribute, possess, or consume 
intoxicating beverages in any City park, except that the consumption of beer 
may be allowed for a specific group function at Hidden Valley Golf Course IF 
PURCHASED ONSITE FROM THE CITY. by permit issues for that function 
THE CITY MAY OFFER ALCOHOL AT SPECIAL EVENTS AT THE HIDDEN 
VALLEY GOLF COURSE, INCLUDING EVENTS HELD OUTSIDE OF 
REGULAR PARK HOURS, IF APPROVED by the City Manager under the 
following conditions: 
 
 (a)1 The function shall be restricted to a very specific facility or area. 

(b)2 The function shall not coincide with youth activity in an adjacent 
area. 

(c)3 The function shall not interfere with or disrupt normal use of 
adjacent park facilities. 

(d)4  The group applying for a permit shall have maintained a high 
standard of conduct for such functions. 

(e)5 The group has liquor liability insurance and property and general 
liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000, UNLESS THE 
CITY MANAGER APPROVES OF A LOWER AMOUNT. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 



formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 
SECTION 3.  That existing Section 933.09 of the Codified Ordinances of 

the City of Delaware is hereby repealed in its entirety. 
 

SECTION 4. EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 
declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public 
peace, safety, health, and welfare of the City by allowing the City to begin beer 
sales at the start of the golf season, and as such will be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its passage. 

 
 

VOTE ON RULES SUSPENSION:  YEAS____ NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
EMERGENCY CLAUSE: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
  
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



Adopted by Parks and Recreation Board : Febuary 21,2017 

 

 

HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF COURSE 
STRATEGIC PLAN FOR 
SUSTAINABILITY 

 

 

 

 

 

 
HVGC Working Group: 
Josh Bricker  Parks and Recreation Board 
Brian Canavan  Citizen 
Scott Fanok  Citizen 
Lucas Ratliff  Citizen 
Ed Schlote  Citizen 
Cindy Sheets  Citizen 
Scott Zagorski  Citizen 
 
Parks and Natural Resource Department: 
Khris Kohler  Golf Course Superintendent 
Linda Mathews  City Staff Liaison 
Ted Miller  Parks & Natural Resource Director 
 

 

HVGC 



HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF COURSE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR SUSTAINABILITY   

Page | 1  
February 21, 2017 

The Challenge 
 
The Hidden Valley Golf Course has been operating at a revenue loss for the past several years. With the 
current financial trend the golf course will not be able to sustain itself and will deplete the fund balance 
within 3-4 years. The golf course has always been marketed as a public facility that serves the 
community with a challenging par 3 course with affordable fees. 
 
The four challenges intended to be addressed through this strategic planning effort are: 

1. Seeking operating efficiencies to reduce operating expenditures, where possible; while 
maintaining current course standards. 

2. Encouraging increased golf play, thereby increasing revenue. 
3. Establishing an ongoing strategy for funding necessary capital repair and repair projects. 
4. Increasing revenue per round to address increasing operating costs due to inflation while 

providing a cost value to our citizens. 
 

Background 
 
The Hidden Valley Golf Course is operated by the Parks and Natural Resource Department as an 
enterprise fund revenues generated from fees support operations and capital repair and replacement 
projects. The course is a 1,647 yard, par 28, 9 hole course that opened in 1968. The City began operating 
the course in 1975. 
 
The golf course revenue began declining in 2004 and typically loses about $15,000 a year which has 
been covered by the fund balance. The City has initiated several steps including cutting operating costs, 
clubhouse remodeling (2016) and personnel changes. At the end of 2016, it was decided to form a 
working group comprised of local citizens and city staff with an interest in improving the golf course to 
increase revenue. Two categories were identified where improvement could be done that would be 
beneficial to revenues Marketing and Operations. 
 

Marketing 
 
Goal 1. Adding a golf specific social media component to market and inform the public- utilizing  
 the city Facebook page and establishing a Twitter account to distribute or gather   
 information. 
 Objective 1: Inform the public about weather/maintenance/special event related closings or  
   limited hours (voicemail will still be utilized on land line) . 
 
 Objective 2: Advertising course specials or special events 
  Action Items:  

 Social media accounts will be used to advertise. 
 
 Objective 3: Gather public feedback on improvements 
  Action Items:  

 Golf Course Superintendent will notify Community Affairs Office of any 
updates. 

 Plan special events and advertise on social media. 



HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF COURSE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR SUSTAINABILITY   

Page | 2  
February 21, 2017 

Goal 2. Promote outings, leagues and tournaments to engage the community. 
 Objective 1: Reorganize the Little Brown Jug tournament to restore as a valued community  
   event. 
  Action Items:  

 City Staff/Working Group to begin search for new event organizer and 
supporter. 

 If event is continued: 

 establish date that would allow for maximum participants (prior 
to school golf season). 

 involve local schools in promoting. 
  
 Objective 2: Advertise to local businesses in an effort to promote league play. 
  Action Items:  

 offer special discounts to businesses that would align with wellness and 
employee benefit packages. 

 
 Objective 3: Introduce trending golf games that attract family oriented events. 
  Action Items:  

 Facilitate golf activities such as “Games on the Range” where range ball 
targets are added to the driving range such as Golf-Tic Tac Toe, 21, 
Climb the Ladder, and H.O.R.S.E. or create your own point scoring game 
with the targets. Promote food (possibly catered) and beverage menu. 

 Introduce Big Hole Golf where the cup increases from 4.25” to 8”. This 
would allow for faster play and open up the game to a wider audience. 

 
Goal 3. Engage the community. 
 Objective 1: Market to millennial generation. 
  Action Items:  

 Millennial generation values time so promote opportunities at HVGC to 
complete a round of golf in 1 and ½ hours or less. 

 Promote a family night golf, where kids are welcome to complete 
rounds with parents. 

 Promotions should focus on evenings and weekends. 
 Promotions through Facebook (City’s page), Instagram, Twitter and 

YMCA. 
 
 Objective 2: Market to senior generation. 
  Action Items:  

 Offer discounts for non-peak times to try and fill playing voids. 
 Promote access to the course working with adjacent senior 

communities. 
 
 Objective 3: Integrate the course into the fabric of the surrounding communities 
  Action Items:  

 Open the course to additional recreational activities such as a multi-use 
trail that aligns with Delaware Run allowing the non-golfing public to 
experience and appreciate the beauty of the course. 



HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF COURSE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR SUSTAINABILITY   

Page | 3  
February 21, 2017 

 
 Objective 4: Expand the marketing database. 
  Action Items:  

 Install a point of sale system that tracks all the golfers that use the 
course so that events and specials can be communicated. Improve 
database for accurate tracking of clientele to identify and categorize. 

 Train staff to properly use bar code system to increase accuracy of sales 
system. 

 Reach out to different clientele and open new markets such as students 
from the high schools, middle schools and Ohio Wesleyan University 

 Gauge interest in The First Tee program and evaluate. 
 Promote a “Factory” League that targets the 1st shift workforce, league 

play would start at 3:30 would fill the typically slow periods. 
 
 Objective 5: User Surveys. 
  Action Items:  

 Utilize Twitter to gather public feedback on how to improve the course. 
 Accept suggestions through clubhouse staff. 
 Monitor social media to gain feedback on new or existing events. 
 Update website to allow comments. 

Operations 
 
Goal 1. Review revenue sources and look for opportunities to increase revenues. 
 Objective 1: Review course rates and suggest increases/decreases. 
  Action Items  

 Strive to stay 10% under the regional average. 
 Adjust the course rates (recommended by Parks & Recreation Board- 

1.17.17). 
 
 Objective 2: Introduce alcohol sales. 
  Action Items:  

 Alcohol introduction schedule: 

 Will require a 10-12 weeks for permit processing. 

 Initial investment of $3,500-$4,500 for ice maker, refrigerator 
and coolers. 

 Ideally a decision by beginning of March would allow lead time 
for sales in May. 

 First year will require pay down of startup costs. 
 Regularly train staff that serve alcohol on protocols to minimize 

problems. 
 On site consumption only 

 
 Objective 3: City staff to review golf course staffing options to maximize efficiency. 
  Action Items:  

 Golf Course Superintendent may need to dedicate time in clubhouse. 
 Utilize seasonal staff when possible, to reduce operational fees. 



HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF COURSE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR SUSTAINABILITY   

Page | 4  
February 21, 2017 

 Introduce volunteer staff to capture lost sales and move play along 
during busy periods 

 
 Objective 4: Review sponsorships to cover costs of materials and increase revenues. 
  Action Items: 

 Look into sponsors on scorecards. 
 Look into hole sponsors. 

 
Goal 2. Identify a Capital Improvement Plan funding repair and replacement of facility infrastructure. 
 Objective 1: Develop a Capital Improvement Plan that analyzes the infrastructure and  
   associated life cycle costs. 
  Action Items:  

 Provide cost estimates and estimated life cycle for capital 
improvements, examples of repair and replacement projects include: 

 Ongoing cart path repair and replacement costs. 

 Irrigation system- replace faulty heads. 

 Stream bank restoration. 

 Equipment replacement. 
 

Implementation Plan 
FY 2017 

 Parks and Natural Resource Staff to establish Instagram and Twitter accounts. Account will be 
managed by staff and inform public about HVGC and Parks and Natural Resource Department. 
Accounts to be linked to City’s Twitter and Facebook account so updates can be relayed. 
    No Cost 

 Implement Alcohol Sales. 
 Permit    -$376.00 
 Ice Maker  -$1,650.00 
 Beverage Refrigerator -$2,000.00 
 Estimated Revenue $10,000.00 (estimate based on $300 revenue per week and  

research from other courses) 
 Estimated Increase $6,000.00  (note first year profits will be offset by initial  
      equipment purchases) 
       

 Annual golf course fee review (completed). 
  Regular Rounds  $2,500.00 ($0.50 increase) 
  Student   -$750.00 ($1.00 decrease) 
  Estimated increase $1,750.00 
 

 Review staffing needs and determine if there are any areas where staffing can be more efficient. 
Volunteer staff No Cost  (allow golfing privileges based on volunteer  

  hours-course rangers) 
 

 Promote a “Games on the Range” event in early June. Based on popularity, determine if a series 
events should be promoted in July/August. 

Estimated Increase $1,500.00 
 



HIDDEN VALLEY GOLF COURSE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR SUSTAINABILITY   

Page | 5  
February 21, 2017 

 Determine if a new sponsor for the Little Brown Jug Tournament can be found. 
Estimated Increase $1,000.00 (organize to be profitable and allow course to  

recoup partial costs for hosting) 
 

 Propose league package that could be promoted to local businesses. Send information to local 
contacts. 

Estimated Increase  $2,000.00 (1 additional league, Tuesday evening) 
 

 Promote additional golf outings. 
Estimated Increase $2,000.00 (2-3 additional golf outings) 
 

 Prepare Capital Improvement Plan. 
 
Estimated Increase 2017  $14,250.00 
 
FY 2018 

 Purchase and implement updated point of sale system. 

 Annual fee review. 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE:  03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO:  18-16 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ELIMINATION OF SEVEN (7) ON-STREET 
PARKING SPACES ON THE EAST SIDE OF NORTH SANDUSKY STREET 
BETWEEN MARSHALL COURT AND THE ALLEY THAT RUNS BETWEEN 
SANDUSKY STREET AND UNION STREET, AND DESIGNATED AS A NO 
PARKING ZONE ACCORDINGLY. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Delaware County requested the removal of seven (7) on street parking spaces to 
create an approximate 40 foot clear zone of defensible space between the edge 
of North Sandusky Street and the proposed Delaware County Judicial Building 
to ensure compliance with federal judicial security regulations.  These spaces 
have been removed as part of the Delaware County Judicial Building project. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The removal of regulatory on street parking spaces requires City Council 
authorization for permanent enforcement. 
 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
The action is being taken as a result Parking and Safety Committee discussion 
at the January 4, 2016 meeting. 
 
 



FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
None 
 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None 
 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Exhibit A 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-16 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ELIMINATION OF 
SEVEN (7) ON-STREET PARKING SPACES ON THE 
EAST SIDE OF NORTH SANDUSKY STREET 
BETWEEN MARSHALL COURT AND THE ALLEY THAT 
RUNS BETWEEN SANDUSKY STREET AND UNION 
STREET, AND DESIGNATED AS A NO PARKING ZONE 
ACCORDINGLY. 
 

WHEREAS, the removal of seven (7) on street parking spaces has been 
requested by Delaware County to create an approximate 40 foot clear zone of 
defensible space between the edge of North Sandusky Street and the proposed 
Delaware County Judicial Building to ensure compliance with federal judicial 
security regulations. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL FOR THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the seven (7) on-street parking spaces on the east side 
of North Sandusky Street between Marshall Court and 80 feet north of the 
Alley between North Sandusky Street and North Union Street be removed as 
part of the Delaware County Judicial Building project. 

 
SECTION 2. That a no parking zone shall be designated in the area 

where the seven parking stalls have been removed, and posted accordingly. 
 
SECTION 3. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS___ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



 

(7) Parking Spaces 

Eliminated 

 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 14    DATE:  03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO:  18-17 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE ALLEY BETWEEN NORTH SANDUSKY 
STREET AND NORTH UNION STREET AS A ONE-WAY ALLEY EASTBOUND  
FROM NORTH SANDUSKY STREET TO 115 FEET WEST OF NORTH UNION 
STREET, AND TO REMAIN AS A TWO-WAY ALLEY FROM 115 FEET WEST OF 
NORTH UNION STREET TO NORTH UNION STREET. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The one-way alley designation has been requested by Delaware County and 
recommended by staff in order to accommodate the volume of traffic that will 
be produced in association with the new Delaware County Judicial Building 
parking structure, which has direct connectivity to the alley.  The existing alley 
between North Sandusky Street and North Union Street is too narrow to 
accommodate increased volumes of two-way traffic.  Staff originally proposed 
that the entire alley be converted to a one-way movement eastbound.  However, 
with public input, it was agreed that alley directly west of Union Street to a 
point approximately 115 feet west could remain two-way to accommodate 
vehicle movements associated with the Union Building Ltd. facility and the 
adjacent parking area.  These changes to the alley were included as part of the 
Delaware County Judicial Building project.  
 
On January 4th, 2015 a special Parking & Safety committee meeting was held 
to consider both a proposed reduction in on street parking and changes to alley 
movement associated with the curt project.  From review of the taped meeting 



recording, a somewhat lengthy conversation occurred where there was 
confusion over the exact limit of the proposed two-way section of alley.  Staff 
had recommended allowing two-way movements to occur from Union Street to 
the west edge of the ten space parking lot owned and utilized by Union 
Building Ltd.   However, late in the discussion a proposal was made to allow 
two-way movements to extend from Union Street further west to the 
intersection with the north/south alley that runs west of the GTE building from 
Central Avenue as this would seemingly be a more distinguishable point to 
terminate the one-way movement.  With additional consideration to significant 
restrictions to safe and visible vehicle movements along this alley, the final 
recommendation is presented in a modified form to account for significant 
concerns regarding site and access limitations.  The attached images 
demonstrate the restricted sight distances and narrowness of the alley on the 
hillside adjacent to the GTE building, all of which suggest limiting the alley as 
initially proposed to a one-way movement west of the Union Building parking 
lot.   
 
Issues regarding site distance limitations are as follows:   
  

There will be a notable increase in traffic that will be required to use the 
alley in order to access the planned parking garage level. 
  
There will be an associated increase in potential vehicle conflicts as the alley 
is only wide enough for single vehicle passage in most areas. 
 
The proposed access to the new parking garage where turning movements 
and conflicts are anticipated to greatest, are located on the steepest part of 
the hill directly north of the GTE building. 
 
The alley along the west side of the GTE building coming in off Central 
Avenue is only 9’-0 wide on the north end, and should not be utilized to 
direct traffic to and from the new court building parking garage to Central 
Avenue.  
 
The intersection of the two narrow alleys creates blind approaches for 
motorists.  There is no opportunity to see traffic coming up the hill from 
Union Street, or down from Sandusky without having to pull out into the 
path of traffic along the alley. 
 
Restricting the alley movements in this area to one direction reduces the 
number of conflict points, congestion, and accident potential. 

 
 
 
 
 



REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The placement of regulatory signage requires City Council authorization for 
permanent enforcement. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
The action is being taken as a result of the Parking and Safety Committee 
recommendation at the January 4, 2016 meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
None 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Images as shown 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-17 
 

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE ALLEY BETWEEN 
NORTH SANDUSKY STREET AND NORTH UNION 
STREET AS A ONE-WAY ALLEY EASTBOUND  FROM 
NORTH SANDUSKY STREET TO 115 FEET WEST OF 
NORTH UNION STREET AND AS A TWO-WAY ALLEY 
FROM 115 FEET WEST OF NORTH UNION STREET 
TO NORTH UNION STREET. 
 

WHEREAS, the one-way alley designation has been requested in order to 
accommodate the volume of traffic that will likely be produced by the new 
Delaware County Judicial Building parking structure; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Parking and Safety Committee heard the issue during the 
January 4, 2016 meeting and was in agreement to modify traffic control to limit 
a portion of the alley to one way traffic; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL FOR THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the alley between North Sandusky Street and North 
Union Street shall be designated as a one-way alley eastbound from North 
Sandusky Street to 115 feet west of North Union Street and as a two-way alley 
from 115 feet west of North Union Street to North Union Street.  

 
SECTION 2. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS___ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



  



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  15    DATE:  03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-18 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) RELATING TO A PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH DELAWARE COUNTY RELATING TO 
PUBLIC USE OF CERTAIN COUNTY PARKING AREAS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Delaware County has available certain parking areas, specifically open surface 
lots that serve the Rutherford B. Hayes Services Building and the open surface 
lot on Court Street west of the Carnegie Building, that can be used by the 
public to relieve congestion in the downtown business district.  
 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Action by Council is needed to ratify this MOU to memorialize the terms upon 
which Delaware County will allow the public to use certain County parking 
areas.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-18 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 

TO ENTER INTO A MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING (MOU) RELATING TO A PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH DELAWARE 
COUNTY RELATING TO PUBLIC USE OF CERTAIN 
COUNTY PARKING AREAS. 

 
WHEREAS, the provision of ample parking space in the downtown 

business district is an ongoing concern to enhance ease of access and quality 
of life within the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Delaware (the “City”) and the Delaware County 
Board of Commissioners (the “Board”) mutually acknowledge and agree that 
the purpose of this Agreement furthers the interests of public convenience and 
welfare by providing for safe, secure, and adequate parking for use by the 
general public; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City and the County desire to enter into an agreement to 

facilitate the use of County parking facilities to the general public.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a 
Memorandum of Understanding (attached) with Delaware County 
memorializing the mutual understanding of the parties regarding the public 
use of certain Delaware County parking areas after this MOU is executed. 
 

  SECTION 2. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after its passage. 

  
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 







  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  16    DATE: 03/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-19    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
   
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 2018 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO 
PROVIDE FUNDING FOR A PERFORMANCE BASED ECONOMIC INCENTIVE 
GRANT TO CAMS, INC. TO ASSIST IN UPGRADING ELECTRICAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE THAT WILL ALLOW THE COMPANY TO OCCUPY 20,000 SQ. 
FT. OF THE SYMMETRY II BUILDING AT 105 INNOVATION COURT, AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
We are requesting City Council’s approval to increase the General Fund 
Economic Development Line Item 101-0015-5601 by $10,000 to provide for a 
$10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant for CAMS, Inc. that was 
passed by Ordinance No. 18-06 for electrical upgrades necessary for the 
company to occupy 20,000 sq. ft. at the Symmetry II building at 105 Innovation 
Court. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Our success in attracting CAMS, INC. would allow the City to obtain an 
additional 8 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs with a $500,000 payroll in a three-
year time period. In 1.4 years, the City would generate enough in income taxes 
to offset the grant. In 3 years, the company would generate $24,050 in income 
tax allowing for an 140.5% return on investment in three years for a $10,000 
grant. As a manufacturing technology provider, the company falls within the 



primary target industries for the 2014 economic development plan. Additionally, 
this is considered to be a foreign direct investment project for Delaware. 
 
Based on CAM’s job and payroll creation commitments outlined above, we are 
proposing the following incentives. 
  
Summary of Incentives: 
 
• Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant – Based on the creation of 
8 FTEs with $500,000 in new annual payroll, the City of Delaware will pay up to 
$10,000 towards needed electrical upgrades at 105 Innovation Court. The funds 
can either be directly payable to the vendors doing the upgrades after the City is 
invoiced, or to CAMS, INC. as a reimbursement after CAMS invoices the city for 
the funds and provides copies of receipts totaling $10,000 or greater. 
 
A supplemental appropriation of the 2018 Budget will be needed to authorize the 
increase to the 2018 Budget appropriated the funds for the intended purpose. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
$10,000 from the General Fund to be allocated to General Administration – 
Economic Development (101-0015-5601).  
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
N/A 



ORDINANCE NO. 18-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 2018 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE 
FUNDING FOR A PERFORMANCE BASED ECONOMIC 
INCENTIVE GRANT TO CAMS, INC. TO ASSIST IN 
UPGRADING ELECTRICAL INFRASTRUCTURE THAT 
WILL ALLOW THE COMPANY TO OCCUPY 20,000 SQ. 
FT. OF THE SYMMETRY II BUILDING AT 105 
INNOVATION COURT, AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware established an economic 
development fund to attract, incentivize and assist high return on investment 
projects in the City of Delaware; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware passed ordinance 18-06 
providing a $10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant to CAMS, Inc. 
to assist the company with electrical upgrades necessary for them to occupy the 
Symmetry II building at 105 Innovation Court; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the adopted 2018 Budget did not include specifically 
appropriating this $10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant from 
the General Fund; and 
 

WHEREAS, a supplemental appropriation to the 2018 Budget will be 
needed to authorize the increase to the 2018 Budget appropriated the funds for 
the intended purpose. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
  

SECTION 1.  That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the Development Reserve Fund $10,000 increasing the following 
account: 

 
     Professional Services (709-0709-5230)     $10,000 
 
   SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.  
 



 SECTION 3. EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 
declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public peace, 
safety, health and welfare of the City, and is necessary to finalize economic 
development incentives for this project, and as such will be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its passage. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  17    DATE: 3/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-20    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Ted Miller, Parks and Natural Resources Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2018 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 
TO PROVIDE FUNDING TO PURCHASE A NEW POOL PUMP FOR THE JACK 
FLORANCE POOL. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The existing pump is currently 12 years old. During the summer of 2017 the 
pump began leaking oil and was monitored closely with the intent to take a closer 
look at the end of the season. A contractor was asked to look at the pump and 
determine a solution for the leaking oil. The proposed solution was to 
disassemble the pump & motor, install new bearings and shaft seal, bore and 
sleeve seal seat housing and reassemble. Labor and parts were estimated at 
$4,000.00 with additional conditions. The first condition was to determine if the 
shaft would need replaced and if so that would be an additional $1,500.00. The 
second condition was the pump will have to be replaced if the seal housing 
cannot be bored. The choice was to potentially spend $4,000 plus and still 
potentially purchase a new pump. The typical life span on this pump is 12-15 
years so we are approaching the end of life for this pump.  
 
The repair work needed to be compared to the cost of a new pump so a quote for 
a new pump was requested and received on December 8, 2018. Patterson Pools 
LLC delivered a quote of $18,000 for materials and labor needed to replace the 
pump. The company has a quality reputation with the YMCA and has completed 



several projects similar to this. We feel comfortable that this solution will be a 
long term fix for Mingo Pool and is ultimately the most economical solution. 
  
The pump currently supplies water for the lap and diving pools and runs 
continuously from Memorial Day to Labor so it is a critical piece of equipment 
that the pool cannot operate without. 
   
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
An appropriation for this work was not included in the 2018 City Budget. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
Requires $18,000 allocation from the unencumbered balance of the Park and 
Recreation Fund to Professional Services (Account# 210-2110-5230). 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Ted Miller, Parks and Natural Resources Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Memo 



ORDINANCE NO. 18-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2018 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE 
FUNDING TO PURCHASE A NEW POOL PUMP FOR 
THE JACK FLORANCE POOL. 

 
WHEREAS, it has been determined that the existing pump at the Jack 

Florance Swimming Pool is in need of replacement; and  
 
WHEREAS, replacement of the pump is recommended because it has come 

to the end of its life expectancy; and 
 
WHEREAS, the pump is necessary for the operation of the Jack Florance 

Swimming Pool, specifically supplying the lap and diving pools; and   
 
WHEREAS, this pool improvement was not included in the 2018 

Appropriation Budget.  
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1. That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the Parks and Recreation Fund $18,000 increasing the following 
account: 

 
Maintenance of Facility (210-2110-5271)   $   18,000 

 
SECTION 2. This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.  
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
TO:  Delaware City Council 
CC:  R. Thomas Homan, City Manager; Jackie Walker, Asst. City Manager; Dean  
  Stelzer, Finance Director 
FROM:   Ted Miller, Parks and Natural Resources Director 
DATE:    12.14.17 
RE:  Mingo Pool pump 
 
The Parks & Natural Resource Department is requesting a supplemental fund to replace the 
Mingo swimming pool pump. The pump replacement cost is quoted at $17,387.00. City staff 
and YMCA staff have been working to determine the most effective solution and our 
recommendation is to replace the pump vs. repairing the pump. 
 
The existing pump is currently 12 years old. During the summer of 2017 the pump began 
leaking oil and was monitored closely with the intent to take a closer look at the end of the 
season. A contractor was asked to look at the pump and determine a solution for the leaking 
oil. The proposed solution was to disassemble the pump & motor, install new bearings and 
shaft seal, bore and sleeve seal seat housing and reassemble. Labor and parts were estimated 
at $4,000.00 with additional conditions. The first condition was to determine if the shaft 
would need replaced and if so that would be an additional $1,500.00. The second condition 
was the pump will have to be replaced if the seal housing cannot be bored. The choice was 
to potentially spend $4,000 plus and still have to potentially purchase a new pump. The 
typical life span on this pump is 12-15 years so we are approaching the end of life for this 
pump.  
 
The repair work needed to be compared to the cost of a new pump so a quote for a new pump 
was requested and finally received on December 8. Patterson Pools LLC delivered a quote of 
$18,000 for materials and labor needed to replace the pump. The company has a quality 
reputation with the YMCA and has completed several projects similar to this. We feel 
comfortable that this solution will be a long term fix for Mingo Pool and is ultimately the 
most economical solution. 
 



FACT SHEET

AGENDA ITEM NO:  18 DATE: 3/12/2018 

ORDINANCE NO:  RESOLUTION NO: 

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING:  YES 
March 26, 2018 @ 7:30 P.M. 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council  

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION: 
AN ORDINANCE FOR MEDROCK LLC APPROVING A ZONING TEXT 
AMENDMENT TO THE EXISTING WILLOWBROOK FARM TRACT PUD 
OVERLAY ZONING TEXT (PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT) TO ALLOW A 
MODIFICATION TO THE MAXIMUM DWELLING UNITS AND DENSITY TO 
MULTI-FAMILY AREAS 3 AND 4 TO ALLOW ADDITIONAL DWELLING UNITS IN 
AREA 3 AND REMOVING UNITS IN AREA 4 THEREBY DECREASING THE 
OVERALL UNITS CURRENTLY ALLOWED IN TOTAL LOCATED ON THE EAST 
SIDE OF HOUK ROAD ON APPROXIMATELY 36 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
R-6 MULTI-FAMILY WITH A PUD OVERLAY. 

BACKGROUND: 
As a result of the Planning Commission vote to recommend denial, the Charter 
(Section 104) requires that five affirmative votes of City Council are required to 
overturn the Planning Commission’s recommendation. 

See attached staff report. 

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 

18-21



Planning Commission did not recommend approval by a vote of 0-7 on March 
7, 2018, thereby technically recommending denial.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-21 
 
AN ORDINANCE FOR MEDROCK LLC APPROVING A 
ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE EXISTING 
WILLOWBROOK FARM TRACT PUD OVERLAY ZONING 
TEXT (PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT) TO ALLOW A 
MODIFICATION TO THE MAXIMUM DWELLING UNITS 
AND DENSITY TO MULTI-FAMILY AREAS 3 AND 4 TO 
ALLOW ADDITIONAL DWELLING UNITS IN AREA 3 AND 
REMOVING UNITS IN AREA 4 THEREBY DECREASING 
THE OVERALL UNITS CURRENTLY ALLOWED IN TOTAL 
LOCATED ON THE EAST SIDE OF HOUK ROAD ON 
APPROXIMATELY 36 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-6 
MULTI-FAMILY WITH A PUD OVERLAY.  
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on March 7, 2018 failed 
to recommend approval of a Zoning Text Amendment to the existing Willowbrook 
Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text (Planned Unit Development) to allow a 
modification to the maximum dwelling units and density to multi-family Areas 3 
and 4 to allow additional dwelling units in Area 3 and removing units in Area 4 
thereby decreasing the overall units currently allowed in total located on the east 
side of Houk Road on approximately 36 acres on property zoned R-6 multi-family 
with a PUD overlay (PC Case 2018-0026). 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Council of the City of Delaware overturns the 
recommendation of denial by the Planning Commission and that the  Zoning Text 
Amendment to the existing Willowbrook Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text 
(Planned Unit Development) to allow a modification to the maximum dwelling 
units and density to multi-family Areas 3 and 4 to allow additional dwelling units 
in Area 3 and removing units in Area 4 thereby decreasing the overall units 
currently allowed in total located on the east side of Houk Road on approximately 
36 acres on property zoned R-6 multi-family with a PUD overlay, is hereby 
confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 

1. The maximum amount of multi-family dwelling units permitted in Area 3 
shall not exceed 180 dwelling units. 

2. The maximum amount of multi-family dwelling units permitted in Area 4 
shall not exceed 100 dwelling units. 

3. The remainder of the requirements of Ordinances 99-74 and 99-76 shall 
remain in full effect.   

 



 
 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 

















































































































































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  19    DATE: 3/12/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-22    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR MEDROCK LLC APPROVING A COMBINED 
PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR MULTI-FAMILY AREA 3 
OF THE  WILLOWBROOK FARM TRACT FOR A 180 UNIT APARTMENT 
COMPLEX ON APPROXIMATELY 15.506 ACRES LOCATED ON THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF HOUK ROAD AND DIGENOVA WAY ON PROPERTY 
ZONED R-6 PUD (MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED 
UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT).  
 
BACKGROUND: 
As a result of the Planning Commission vote to recommend denial, the Charter 
(Section 104) requires that five affirmative votes of City Council are required to 
overturn the Planning Commission’s recommendation. 
 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission failed to approve this case 7-0 on March 7, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 



N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-22 
 
AN ORDINANCE FOR MEDROCK LLC APPROVING A 
COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN FOR MULTI-FAMILY AREA 3 OF THE  
WILLOWBROOK FARM TRACT FOR A 180 UNIT 
APARTMENT COMPLEX ON APPROXIMATELY 15.506 
ACRES LOCATED ON THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
HOUK ROAD AND DIGENOVA WAY ON PROPERTY 
ZONED R-6 PUD (MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT).  
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on March 7, 2018 failed to 
recommend approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for 
multi-family Area 3 of the Willowbrook Farm Tract for a 180 unit apartment 
complex on approximately 15.506 acres located on the northeast corner of Houk 
Road and DiGenova Way on property zoned R-6 PUD (Multi-Family Residential 
District with a Planned Unit Development) (PC Case 2018-0027) and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Council of the City of Delaware overturns the 
recommendation of denial by the Planning Commission and that the Combined 
Preliminary and Final Development Plan for multi-family Area 3 of the 
Willowbrook Farm Tract for a 180 unit apartment complex on approximately 
15.506 acres located on the northeast corner of Houk Road and DiGenova Way on 
property zoned R-6 PUD (Multi-Family Residential District with a Planned Unit 
Development), is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
conditions that: 

1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department once a complete plan set is submitted for 
review. 

2. The Applicant shall construct the piece of Boulder Dr. from Houk Rd. 
east to the existing short Boulder Dr. piece that was constructed at the 
end of Harmony Dr. by the Applicant with the initial phases of the 
Adalee Park Subdivision. This construction should take place concurrent 
with any site development should the Willowbrook Apartment 



applications be approved and the project advance to construction.  The 
next phase of Boulder Drive to the east of this point would then be 
considered as part of the appropriate future phase of the Adalee Park 
development.  However, should the Willowbrook Apartments in question 
not advance to approval and construction then the entire length of 
Boulder Dr. beginning at Houk Rd. and continuing eastward might need 
to be constructed with the appropriate future phase of Adalee Park to 
provide access for that development to Houk Road to be determined if 
and when that future case(s) may come forward. 

3. The proposed apartment buildings shall achieve compliance with the 
design standards of the approved development text and the submitted 
Final Development Plan. Any limestone on the buildings shall be 
constructed of Delaware blue vein limestone or equivalent as approved 
by staff. 

4. The dumpster enclosures shall be constructed as proposed on the Sheet 
entitled “Trash Enclosure Plan” as submitted by the Applicant on 
3/2/18.  The wood enclosures and doors shall be painted or stained in a 
neutral color to compliment the adjacent buildings. 

5. A proposed mound at the same height and undulation with the same 
tree mix of deciduous and evergreen trees and shall be installed along 
Houk Road to be consistent with the existing mounding north of this site 
to achieve compliance with the approved mounding and landscape plan 
of the entire Houk Road corridor of the Willowbrook Farms development 
and to ensure adequate site distance is achieved. 

6. A 2 to 3 foot high undulating mound shall be installed along DiGenova 
Way to supplement the proposed street and front yard trees on the 
landscape plan. 

7. A continuous minimum 5 to 6 foot high mound with minimum 6 foot 
high evergreen trees, planted in a staggered row configuration, at 
installation shall be installed along the northern property line to provide 
a continuous screen to adjacent to single family subdivision (Adalee 
Park) All landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Shade 
Tree Commission. 

8. Any ground signage shall achieve compliance with the minimum zoning 
code requirements and adopted Gateways and Corridor Plan.  

9. The private street names shall be submitted and approved by the City 
and other appropriate agencies.  

10. The entire development shall achieve compliance with the Fire 
Department and Public Works development final requirements after the 
final review is complete. 

11. The entire development shall subscribe to City refuse collection and 
achieve compliance with all Public Works requirements. 



 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



City Manager Report 20180312 

 
 
 
 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: March 08, 2018 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 See Attached 
 
3. Bi-Weekly Meetings 
  

February 20 
* Strand Board Meeting 
February 23 
* Baumholder Skype Call 
February 26 
* Mayor of Lorain Conference Call Meeting 
* Rotary 
* City Council Meeting 
February 27 
* Ironman Staff Meeting 
February 28 
* Finance Committee Meeting 
March 1 
*  OWU Intro to Public Policy 
March 2 
* COMMA Meeting 
March 5 
* Rotary 
March 6 
* 911 Admin Board 
* Meeting with Chris Bauserman 
March 7, 2018 
* OCMA Winter Conference 
March 8, 2018 
* OCMA Winter Conference 



March 
 

 

2018 
Meeting Schedule Council, Boards, Commissions, & Committees 

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
    1 2 3 

       

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
  Public Works/Public 

Utilities Committee – 
7pm 

Civil Service 
Commission 3 pm 
Planning Commission 7 
pm 

   

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
 Council 7 pm  BZA 7pm-Cancelled    

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
  

Council Work Session 
6pm 

Parks & Recreation 
Advisory Board 7 pm 

Planning Commission 7-
tentative 

   

25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
 City Council 7 pm Shade Tree Commission 

7pm 
Historic Preservation 
Commission 7pm 

   

       
       

 



CONTRACT APPROVAL – MARCH 12, 2018 
 

VENDOR 
 

EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT 
2018 

AMOUNT 
 

DEPARTMENT 
Delaware Community Space, 
LLC (DBA COhatch) 

COhatch City Hall Annex Lease $0.00 Economic 
Development 

 


	01 20180312 council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 20180226 council minutes
	03 20180123 shade tree minutes
	04 20180124 hpc minutes
	05 20170816 finance minutes
	06 20180103 civil service commission minutes
	07 20180207 planning commission minutes
	08 fact sheet res 18-15, TIRC
	09 res 18-15 , TIRC
	10 2018_signin
	11 2018_TIRC_Meeting _Minutes
	12 CRA_EZspreadsheet
	CRA-EZ

	13 TIFspreadsheet
	TIF

	14 ResidentialCRAspreadsheet
	Residential CRA

	15 fact sheet ord 18-11,  rezone 2017-3116 Delmor Dwelliing
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A REZONING AMENDMENT TO ALLOW A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED PO/I (PLANNE...

	16 ord 18-11, rezone 2017-3115 Del-Mor Dwelling
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A REZONING AMENDMENT TO ALLOW A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED PO/I (PLANNE...

	17 staff report-del mor
	18 fact sheet ord 18-12 ,  CUP 2017-3116 Delmor Dwelliing
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPER...

	19 ord 18-12 , CUP 2017-3116 Del-Mor Dwelling
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRES ON PROPER...

	20 fact sheet ord 18-13, PDP 2017-3117 Delmor Dwelliing
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR AN ACTIVELY OWNED AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT LOW AND MODERATE INCOME AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE ...

	21 ord 18-13 , PDP 2017-3117 Del-Mor Dwelling
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR AN ACTIVELY OWNED AND MANAGED 40 DWELLING UNIT LOW AND MODERATE INCOME AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE ...

	22 fact sheet ord 18-14 , CPA 2017-3118 Delmor Dwelliing
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT ON THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP FROM MEDIUM DENSITY SINGLE FAMILY TO MIXED USE AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRE...

	23 ord 18-14 , CPA 2017-3118 Del-Mor Dwelling
	AN ORDINANCE FOR DEL-MOR DWELLING CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL OF A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT ON THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP FROM MEDIUM DENSITY SINGLE FAMILY TO MIXED USE AT 250 CURTIS STREET ON THE NORTH SIDE OF FIRESTONE DRIVE ON APPROXIMATELY 3.64 ACRE...

	25 fact sheet res 18-18,   beer sales hvgc
	26 ord 18-18 , amend section 933.09 alcohol sales at hvgc
	27 HVGC Strategic Plan for Sustainability final
	28 fact sheet res 18-16 , n sandusky st parking removal
	29 res 18-16, N Sandusky St Parking Stall Removal
	30 res18-16 , Parking Reduction Exhibit 11.7.17
	31 fact sheet res 18-17, Alley Sandusky to Union
	32 res 18-17  Alley Sandusky to Union
	33 res 18-17 , Alley Exhibit 11.7.17
	34 fact sheet res 18-18, parking MOU
	35 res 18-18, MOU parking agreement
	36 res 18-18, MOU parking courthouse
	37 fact sheet ord 18-19 , CAMS grant supplemental
	38 ord 18-19  CAMS grant supplemental
	39 fact sheet ord 18-20, supplemental mingo pool pump
	40 ord 81-20, supplemental mingo pool pump
	41 supplemental mingo pool memo
	42 fact sheet ord 18- 21, 2018-0026 Willowbrook Farm Apts  REZ
	43 ord 18-21, 2018-0026 Willowbrook Farm Apartments REZ
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-21
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	44 2018-0026-0027 staff report
	45 factsheet ord 18-22 2018-0027 Willowbrook Farm Apts  CPFDP
	46 ord 18-22, 2018-0027 Willowbrook Farm Apartments CPFDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-22
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	47 city managers report 20180312
	48 March Calendar 2018
	49 20180312 Contract approval
	CONTRACT APPROVAL – MARCH 12, 2018
	2018
	DEPARTMENT
	AMOUNT
	VENDOR
	EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT

	Economic Development
	$0.00
	Delaware Community Space, LLC (DBA COhatch)
	COhatch City Hall Annex Lease





